
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Council Meeting 
Agenda 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

10 December 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 
 

 

 

 
 

SUMMONS 
 
To All Members of the Council 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the District Council to be held in the 
Council Chamber, Appletree Court, Lyndhurst on Monday, 10 December 2018, at 6.30 
pm 
 

 
Bob Jackson 
Chief Executive 
 
Appletree Court, Lyndhurst, Hampshire. SO43 7PA 
www.newforest.gov.uk 
 
This Agenda is also available on audio tape, in Braille, large print and digital format 
 
Enquiries to:  Karen Wardle 
   Tel: 023 8028 5588 – ask for Karen Wardle 
   Email: karen.wardle@nfdc.gov.uk 
 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

 Apologies 

 

1.   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 4) 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 15 October 2018 as a correct record. 
 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To note any declarations of interest made by members in connection with an 
agenda item.  The nature of the interest must also be specified. 
 
Members are asked to discuss any possible interests with Democratic Services 
prior to the meeting. 

 
 

3.   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 
 

mailto:karen.wardle@nfdc.gov.uk


 
 

4.   LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 

5.   REPORTS OF CABINET (Pages 5 - 8) 

 To consider the reports of the Cabinet dated: 
 

 7 November 2018; and 

 5 December 2018 (to follow) 
 

6.   QUESTIONS  

 Under Standing Order 22.  
 

7.   QUESTIONS TO PORTFOLIO HOLDERS UNDER STANDING ORDER 22A  

 To ask questions of Portfolio Holders. Questions received will be tabled at the 
meeting. (Members are reminded that questions must be submitted to the Chief 
Executive or to the Executive Head of Governance and Regulation by not later than 
noon on Friday 7 December 2018.) 

 

8.   MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES AND PANELS  

 To consider any changes to the membership of Committees or Panels that might be 
proposed by the political groups. 

 
 

9.   ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT  

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
1 

15 OCTOBER 2018 
 

NEW FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the New Forest District Council held in the Council 
Chamber, Appletree Court, Lyndhurst on Monday, 15 October 2018 

 
* Cllr M J Kendal (Chairman) 

* Cllr A T Glass (Vice-Chairman) 
 
 Councillors:  Councillors: 

 
* A R Alvey 
* Mrs D E Andrews 
* W G Andrews 
* P J Armstrong 
* G C Beck 
* Mrs S M Bennison 
* J E Binns 
* G R Blunden 
* D A Britton 
* Mrs D M Brooks 
* Mrs F Carpenter 
* Mrs L D Cerasoli 
* S J Clarke 
* Mrs J L Cleary 
* I C Coombes 
* Ms K V Crisell 
* S P Davies 
* A H G Davis 
* W H Dow 
* Ms L C Ford 
* R L Frampton 
* A A Gossage 
* L E Harris 
* M R Harris 
* D Harrison 
* E J Heron 
* J D Heron 
* Mrs A J Hoare 
* Mrs M D Holding 
 

* Mrs C Hopkins 
* Mrs E L Lane 
  M Langdale 
  Mrs P J Lovelace 
* Mrs R Matcham 
  Mrs A E McEvoy 
* A D O'Sullivan 
  J M Olliff-Cooper 
* N S Penman 
* A K Penson 
* D M S Poole 
* L R Puttock 
* B Rickman 
* W S Rippon-Swaine 
* Mrs A M Rostand 
* D J Russell 
  Miss A Sevier 
* M A Steele 
* M H Thierry 
* Mrs B J Thorne 
* D B Tipp 
* D N Tungate 
* A S Wade 
* Mrs C V Ward 
* J G Ward 
* M L White 
  C A Wise 
* Mrs P A Wyeth 
 

*Present 
 
Officers Attending: 
 
C Read, Mrs R Rutins, Mrs M Sandhu and Mrs K Wardle 
 
Apologies 
 
Cllrs Mrs Lovelace, Mrs McEvoy, Miss Sevier and Wise.   
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



 
Council 15 OCTOBER 2018 
 

 

 
2 

 

 

34   MINUTES  

RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 10 September 2018 be signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record. 
 

35   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

Cllr Kendal disclosed a non-pecuniary interest in minute no 42, Questions to 
Portfolio Holders Under Standing Order 22A (Question 2). 
 

36   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

The Chairman reported that he had attended a number of engagements including: 

 Age Concern New Forest AGM 

 Mayor of Christchurch’s Civic Day: This would be the last Civic Day for the 
Borough of Christchurch as Christchurch was being amalgamated with other 
neighbouring authorities 

 Christopher Tower Reference Library Open Day at New Forest Heritage 
Centre 

 Minstead Trust AGM:  The Trust worked with people with learning 
disabilities.  He reported that statistics showed that those with learning 
disabilities had lower absentee rates at work.  He urged Members who were 
employers to consider the Minstead Trust when fulfilling vacancies. 

 
The Chairman’s Charity dinner to raise funds for Oakhaven Hospice in Totton would 
be held on 8 December 2018 at Beaulieu Palace.  The Chairman encouraged 
members to purchase one of the remaining seven tickets. 
 
The Chairman invited Members to attend an Armistice Day Commemoration at 
Appletree Court on Monday, 12 November 2018 from 10.30 am. 
 

37   LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

The Leader reported that the British Construction Industry had awarded the beach 
huts at Milford on Sea the “Climate Resilience Project of the Year”.   
 

38   BY-ELECTION FOR DISTRICT COUNCIL'S PENNINGTON WARD - 13 
SEPTEMBER 2018  

The report of the Returning Officer on the by-election held on 13 September 2018 
to fill the vacancy for the Pennington Ward, was noted.  Cllr Andrew Gossage 
(Conservative) had been elected. 
 

39   REPORT OF GENERAL PURPOSES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE  

The Chairman of the General Purposes and Licensing Committee presented the 
report of the meeting held on 7 September 2018.   
 
 
 

Page 2



 
Council 15 OCTOBER 2018 
 

 

 
3 

 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be received and the recommendations be adopted. 
 

40   REPORT OF THE CABINET  

The Leader of the Council, as Chairman of the Cabinet, presented the report of the 
meeting held on 3 October 2018. 
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the report be received and noted. 
 

41   QUESTIONS UNDER STANDING ORDER 22  

There were none. 
 

42   QUESTIONS TO PORTFOLIO HOLDERS UNDER STANDING ORDER 22A  

Cllr Kendal disclosed a non-pecuniary interest in relation to Question 2, as a 
Member of Hampshire County Council, which had granted funding to the IncuHive 
business centre.  He concluded that there were no grounds under common law to 
prevent him from remaining in the meeting and there was no discussion on this 
item. 
 
Question 1 
 
From Cllr Alex Wade to Cllr Jill Cleary, Portfolio Holder for Housing Services: 
 
"Will she give reassurance that the tail-end of this administration and any future 
Conservative led administration won't borrow money to build much needed council 
housing only to see it lost under the "Right to Buy" scheme?” 
 
Answer 
The Portfolio Holder responded that the building of council housing was much 
needed.  The current Administration was determined to do all it could to deliver new 
homes in light of the desperate need for affordable housing in the District. The 
Council would utilise its existing Housing Revenue Account reserves, capital 
receipts and prudent borrowing in order provide housing. The Council had 
committed to spend £19 million on the acquisition and building of much needed 
homes for social rent in the District in the current financial year.   
 
The Right to Buy Scheme had been set through national legislation. The number of 
new homes that the Council planned to acquire and build in the future far 
outweighed those that would be lost through Right to Buy. 
 
The Council would continue to accelerate the acquisition and new build programme 
to produce more affordable housing in order to meet the great need for affordable 
housing in the District.  
 

Page 3



 
Council 15 OCTOBER 2018 
 

 

 
4 

 

Question 2 
 
From Cllr Mark Steele to Cllr Michael Harris, Portfolio Holder for Local 
Economic Development, Property & Innovation 
 
When many think of economic development, they think of creating something new – 
new industrial sites, new marketing campaigns, new talent attraction, and new 
business recruitment.  But, in many of our communities in the New Forest, the key 
to economic competitiveness in some instances I believe is repurposing and 
improving existing assets, indeed in some of the New Forest Communities, this 
could mean a shift from building a new business park to redeveloping existing real 
estate.  Can the Portfolio Holder for Local Economic Development, Property and 
Innovation - Cllr Michael Harris please confirm, how are we maximizing our existing 
assets in the New Forest community? 
 
Answer 
The Portfolio Holder reported that the Economic Development Strategy recognised 
that there was an undersupply of suitable business units in the District, which 
restricted economic growth.  The Council had disposed of land surplus to 
operational requirements, including a former car park sold for £1.95 million and land 
at Hardley Industrial Estate which had been sold for £675,000. 
 
The Council held 23 commercial properties valued at approximately £9.6 million, 
providing an annual rental income of £673,000, a gross yield of 7%.  The total 
income received from all non-housing leases was approximately £900,000 per 
annum. 
 
The Portfolio Holder reported that the Council was helping to deliver repurposed 
modern business centres which would enable job creation, business growth and the 
development of local skills.  He gave the example of the C4Si site on the former 
National Park Headquarters in Lymington, which had received seed funding from 
the District Council and Hampshire County Council and the former Advertiser and 
Times site in New Milton which would reopen as a modern IncuHive business 
centre. 
 
The Portfolio Holder reported that the achievements would not have been possible 
without the hard work of staff.  The Council’s Economic Development Strategy set 
out ways to maximise assets in the District. 
 

43   MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES AND PANELS  

There were no changes. 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 4



REPORT OF CABINET 
 

(Meeting held on 7 November 2018) 
 
 

1. . CIVIL ON STREET PARKING ENFORCEMENT AND TRANSPORTATION - 
AGENCY AGREEMENTS (MINUTE NO 44) 
 
The Cabinet has rejected proposals from the County Council for revised agency 
agreements for on-street parking enforcement and traffic management.  The new 
agreements would have applied from April 2020.  
 
The County Council has reviewed the operation of their on-street parking 
arrangements as part of their programme to achieve savings and, following 
discussions with officers in the Borough and District Councils in Hampshire, 
proposed revised terms for the operation of the on-street parking enforcement 
agency with effect from 31 March 2020.  In addition, in future, the Council would 
only be able to operate a traffic management agency if they also undertook the on-
street parking function. 
 
Details of the current arrangements and also the proposed terms of the new agency 
agreements are set out in Section 2 of Report item 4 to the Cabinet.   The Cabinet 
has concluded that the proposed terms would place an undue level of risk on this 
Council arising from factors that would be outside this Council’s control.  Members 
are also concerned about the effect of the County Council’s proposals on the cost 
and viability of small scale residents’ parking schemes, such as those operating in 
this District.  The current residents’ schemes will cease and residents will face a 
significant increase in cost to secure an equivalent arrangement. 
 
Members consider that the proposed arrangements are disappointing in the light of 
the success of the current arrangements, which have operated since 2002. 
 
The 1.6 FTE staff allocated to the traffic management function will be entitled to 
TUPE transfer to the County Council should this Council cease to operate the 
agency.  It is however anticipated that the 5.3 FTE reduction in the number of staff 
needed for parking enforcement will not be covered by TUPE and this Council will 
have to pay any costs associated with redundancy. 
 
 
 

2. STRATEGIC FIRE SAFETY REVIEW (MINUTE NO 45) 
 

The Cabinet has approved changes to the Council’s existing fire safety policies to 
ensure that they remain robust to protect residents, staff and visitors to the Council’s 
buildings.  The new proposed overarching Strategic Fire Safety Policy is set out in 
Appendix 1 to Report Item 5 to the Cabinet.  Detailed policies for the Council’s 
buildings will be prepared in accordance with this strategic approach and will be 
approved by the relevant portfolio holder by March 2019.   
 
As part of this first stage in the process an additional resource of £60,000 has been 
approved for use in Housing to allow the implementation of the improvements that 
are set out in Section 4 of Report item 5 to the Cabinet.  Housing is the highest 
priority as, with people living and sleeping in the buildings, there is the greatest 
vulnerability. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



 

3.  COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2019/20 (MINUTE NO. 46) 
 

Insofar as it is empowered by law, the Cabinet has approved the recommendations of 
the Council Tax Reduction Task and Finish Group for the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme to apply from 1 April 2019.  The Task and Finish Group had considered a 
limited range of amendments to the current scheme, which is designed to assist 
vulnerable persons of working age in the District.  The options are set out in Section 
5 of Report Item 6 to the Cabinet.  The necessary consultation exercise has been 
undertaken on the proposal that the main scheme should remain unaltered, but a de 
minimis rule should be introduced under which any change in entitlement of less than 
£1 per week should in future be disregarded.  At present 30% of variations are under 
£1, but require a disproportionate administrative burden to implement.  A saving of 
£10,000 per annum is expected.  Only a limited number of responses had been 
received to the consultation, but these were supportive. 
 
RECOMMENDED: 
 
That, in so far as it is empowered to do so by law, the Council agrees that the 
Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme with effect from 1 April 2019 be amended 
as set out in Option E in paragraph 5.1 of Report Item 6 to the Cabinet to 
introduce a de minimis rule to disregard changes of less than £1 per week. 

 
 
4. COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS AND EXEMPTIONS, VOLUNTARY PAYMENT AND 

RELATED POLICIES (MINUTE NO. 47) 
 

Insofar as it empowered to do so by law, the Cabinet has approved the 
recommendations of the Council Tax Reduction Task and Finish Group with respect 
to various council tax exemptions and discounts.  They also considered the 
introduction of an empty homes premium and also a Voluntary Payment Scheme for 
Band H properties. 
 
The current council tax discounts are set out in Section 2 of Report Item 7 to the 
Cabinet.  The proposed changes, and the Task and Finish Group’s conclusions on 
them, are set out in Section 3 of the Report.   
 
The Cabinet agreed that, in line with Government aspirations to bring empty homes 
back into use, a premium payment should be introduced, initially at 50% from 1 April 
2019, with the potential to increase the premium, after a review, to 100% from 1 April 
2020.  It is recognised that the property’s owner can avoid the premium by partly 
furnishing the property and declaring it as a second home.  The premium does 
however make a statement about the importance of homes being used. 
 
The Cabinet is also sympathetic to the objective of providing support to persons 
leaving the care system, the Children’s Society having recommended that such 
young adults should be exempt from council tax payments up to the age of 21.  
However, the Council’s existing Council Tax Reduction Scheme and Exceptional 
Hardship Policy already provide a greater level of assistance, should the young 
person be in need. 
 
Insofar as it is empowered to by law the Cabinet has also approved two policy 
documents that bring together the Council’s existing policies into a National Non-

Page 6



Domestic Rate Relief Policy and a Fair Collection and Debt Recovery Policy as 
attached as Appendices 1 and 2 respectively to Report item 7 to the Cabinet. 
 
The Cabinet concurred with the Task and Finish Group that the introduction of a 
voluntary additional payments scheme in respect of Band H properties was not a 
viable option.  The return was likely to be small in comparison to the additional 
administrative costs, and such a scheme could deter alternative charitable donations. 
 
RECOMMENDED: 
 
(a) That, insofar as it is entitled to do so by law, the Council approve the 

discretionary discounts to and premiums on council tax as set out in 
options A to E in paragraph 3 of Report Item 7 to the Cabinet; 

 
(b) That, insofar as it is entitled to do so by law, the Council approve the 

Local Non-Domestic Rate Relief Policy, and the Fair Collection and Debt 
Recovery Policy, attached as Appendices 1 and 2 to Report item 7 to the 
Cabinet. 

 
 

5.  MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2018 ONWARDS (MINUTE NO. 48) 
 

The Cabinet has been updated on the latest projections for the Council’s financial 
position for the period to 2022/23.   
 
Prior to the Chancellor’s Autumn Statement, the Prime Minister had already made 2 
key announcements that affected the Council’s finances, removing the borrowing 
cap on local authority Housing Revenue Accounts and suggesting that times of 
austerity were over.  The Autumn Statement had not however included any 
measures that would assist District Councils. 
 
The provisional financial settlement for 2019/20 should be announced on 6 
December 2018.  The Medium Term Plan currently makes the assumption that 
negative support grant of £612,000 will apply in 2019/20, but it is hoped that the 
Treasury will respond to the pressure from local government to improve this 
position.  Together with the provisional financial settlement the Council should also 
hear if the bid for the Hampshire Wide Business Rates pilot has been successful.  
Any benefits arising from the success of that bid will be included in the next Medium 
Term Plan. 
 
The 3 yearly actuarial review of the Hampshire Pension Fund will take place in 
2019/20.   For the period 2017/18 - 2020/21 the Council’s employee contributions 
are increasing by 1% per annum.  Current financial indications suggest that future 
increases will not be necessary, or at least of a much lesser degree. 
 
Since August the budget deficit position for 2019/20 has been reduced to £109,000, 
as set out in Table 2 to Report item 8 to the Cabinet.  The projected budget shortfall 
over the period to 2022/23 has also improved, having been reduced from £1.35 
million to £1.136 million.  It is proposed to further eliminate this budget gap through 
savings from the review of the delivery of Leisure and the generation of additional 
commercial and residential property income.  Any shortfall will be met from 
reserves, to maintain flexibility to develop further plans.  Further details are set out 
in Appendix 1 to Report Item 8 to the Cabinet. 
 

Page 7



Members have also been updated on the ICT investment and asset maintenance 
and replacement programmes.  The Cabinet has approved the overall asset 
management and replacement programme budget, in advance of consideration of 
the full programme by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel, to allow initial 
preparatory works to begin.  The parameters of the bids under this programme have 
been set in the context of a £1.7 million fund being available, which is a reduction of 
£300,000 on the 2018/19 budget. 
 
Members have also been updated on the projected use of General Fund reserves in 
2018/19.  The reserves will support the capital and asset maintenance and 
replacement programmes.   
 
The annual review of the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan will be 
considered by the Cabinet in February 2019. 

 
 
 
 
 

COUNCILLOR B RICKMAN 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 

Page 8


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Reports of Cabinet

